1950

State of Utah v. Joe Petralia : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant was tried before the Honorable John A. Hendricks, one of the judges of the District Court, and a jury, in Weber County, Utah, upon an Information charging the crime of *robbery*, a felony, as follows:

“The said defendant did then and there wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously take, steal and carry away from the immediate presence of George Steve and Taiji Anazawa certain personal property, to-wit: approximately the sum of \$27,300.00 in United States currency, and said taking of said property being then and there accomplished by

means of force and fear used upon and against the persons of the said George Steve and Taiji Anazawa, and against their will, said personal property at the time of said taking being then and there in the possession of the said George Steve and Taiji Anazawa”.

(Tr. 005) The Information was supplemented by a Bill of Particulars, specifying “on or about June 25, 1948” as the time, and the premises known as The Club at the address 126 25th Street in Ogden, Utah, as the place of the alleged crime. (Tr. 007)

The defendant had waived preliminary hearing and entered a plea of “Not Guilty” to the Information and duly served notice of intention to offer evidence to establish an alibi in his defense. (Tr. 006).

The case was set for trial for June 1st, 1949 at 10:00 o'clock a.m., on Wednesday. The defendant resided at Bell, a suburb of Los Angeles, in California. Several days before the time set for the trial, information was received that the defendant was ill and might be unable to attend the trial at the time appointed. A telegram from his physician was received, and on the day before the date set, suggestion was made to Judge Hendricks by counsel for the defendant, for a continuance on account of the condition of the health of the defendant. Notwithstanding the effort in that respect, the defendant was advised to come to Ogden, and on the evening before the time set, the defendant notified counsel that he would come on by plane, leaving Los Angeles at 7:45 a.m. on the 1st of June.

At the time appointed on June 1st, 1949, at 10:00

o'clock the following proceedings were had. (Tr. 084-1)

“Be it remembered the above-entitled case came regularly before the Honorable John A. Hendricks, Judge, sitting with a Jury at Ogden, Weber County, Utah, for trial on the 1st day of June, A. D., 1949 and was continued from day to day thereafter until the said trial was concluded.

APPEARANCES:

Glenn Adams, Esq. District Attorney,
for the State of Utah

Arthur Woolley, Esq.,
for the defendant.

PROCEEDINGS

(Tuesday June 11, 1949 at ten o'clock a.m.)

The Court: This is the time set for the trial of the case No. 4703, the State of Utah vs. Joe Petralia.

You say your client won't get in until about three o'clock.

Mr. Woolley: Yes, Your Honor. I talked to him last night about nine. He was scheduled to leave in a plane at 7:45 a.m. and arrive in Salt Lake City at one and come from there then. I think he should be here by about three.

The Court: Then we will call the roll of the jury and adjourn until three p.m.”

(Tr. 084 2 & 3)

“(Tuesday June 1, 1949 at 4:15 p.m.)

The Court: State of Utah vs. Joe Petralia, 4703, call the roll of the jurors.

(The clerk called the roll of the jurors.)

Mr. Woolley: If the court please, the defendant has just arrived. Yesterday I made a suggestion to your honor that the case be continued on account of the condition of the health of the defendant, and the suggestion was made that the defendant be examined here and a local physician's findings be considered. I now move that an order be made to allow that and that a continuance be had until tomorrow morning at ten o'clock at which time a determination of that fact can be made.

The Court: Well, we might save further time and expense and inconvenience of some of the jurors if we select the jury tonight.

(Discussion)

The Court: Gentlemen of the jury: You will be excused until ten a.m. in the morning, so you may now leave the court room. You can close the door there, Mr. Bailiff.

Mr. Adams: I take it, Your Honor, there are no members of the prospective jurors now in the court room.

The Court: No, I don't think there is.

Mr. Adams: May the record so show that is a fact.

The Court: Now, Mr. Petralia, the court holds it inexcusable for you to arrive here late. This trial has been set for a long time. You knew you were to be here, and you knew you were to be here at ten o'clock this morning. Now, the court is going to find you in contempt of court, and its going to fine you. To purge yourself from that contempt, you are to pay the jury fees of today. That's \$176.00. How many witnesses did you have?

Mr. Adams: Just one second, Your Honor. Eight witnesses were called for today, Your Honor.

The Court: Four dollars a day, \$32.00. That's \$208.00 costs that you will have to pay to purge yourself from that contempt.

The court will make an order that you may be examined. The State may arrange to have one doctor examine you, and you may have your counsel arrange to have one doctor examine you, and if it should develop that we will have to postpone this case again, the court will expect you to pay the costs of tomorrow, jury and witnesses too.

It's going to take very good proof that you are not able to go to trial before any further continuance is had. The District Attorney may arrange for an examination to be made, and have that done prior to ten o'clock in the morning, because we don't want to have any further delay on that account.

It's embarrassing for all concerned to have 22 men laying around all day long.

I think you'd better have the physicians here so that they can testify at 9:30 in the morning so we can have them out before the jury comes in, and so you and Mr. Woolley can get together and arrange for the examination.

All witnesses appear here again tomorrow morning. The Court will be adjourned until ten o'clock.

Mr. Adams: About the order, Your Honor, concerning the payment of these costs. When must they be paid?

The Court: He is to pay those tomorrow morning.

(Whereupon at 4:30 p. m., court adjourned to Wednesday, June 2, 1949 at ten o'clock a.m.)"

At 9:30 o'clock a.m. on Wednesday, June 2, 1949, the court convened and heard testimony from Doctors Conroy and Barker, physicians of Ogden, concerning the physical condition of the defendant, from which it appeared the defendant had a gastric ulcer or peptic ulcer of the stomach, and a small or moderate sized tumor at the base of the neck near the 7th cervical vertebrae, "probably benign", "probably a fibroma", "probably a sebaceous cyst". Both physicians were of the opinion that his condition was not sufficiently acute that attendance upon the trial would do him any irreparable harm, and the court denied the motion for continuance. (Tr. 084-7)

The trial of the cause resumed June 2nd. The jury was impanelled and testimony was taken on that and

the following day when the case was continued to June 6th and resumed for further testimony. The state having rested, the defendant called witnesses in person and offered to read the testimony of Lewis Green and other witnesses taken in a proceeding had in the state of California before a court there hearing a Writ of Habeas on petition of the defendant against an Order of Extradition to Utah upon the charge here, which had been made by the Governor of the State of California, there having been a stipulation orally made between the attorney for the defendant here and the District Attorney here for the use of the transcript of the witnesses called by the defendant in his behalf upon the Habeas Corpus proceedings. The District Attorney repudiated the stipulation, when it came to the point of reading the testimony at the trial.

On the coming in of court for further trial of the cause on June 7th, the defendant moved the court for a continuance of the trial to enable the defendant to serve subpoenas in the state of California, and for proceedings to compel the attendance at the trial of this cause in Utah of witnesses to be so subpoenaed on the part of the defendant, and that motion was by the court granted, and the cause continued to June 14, 1949. (Tr. 064) On June 14th, the trial was resumed and witnesses from California and others testified on behalf of the defendant. (Tr. 065) On June 15th, the trial was resumed and the case was submitted to the jury, and the jury returned a verdict of guilty, as follows.

“We the jury, empaneled in the above entitled action find the defendant guilty of the crime of *Grand Larceny*, a felony, a crime as included with-

in the information herein.”

(Tr. 066) The defendant was ordered to appear for sentence on June 27, 1949. The defendant filed notice of intention to move for new trial and motion for new trial. (Tr. 068-069) The matter was continued to June 28th, 1949.

In the meantime, the court had suggested to counsel for the defendant that he would consider placing the defendant on parole if application was made. On June 28th, the defendant moved for an order placing the defendant on probation to the State Adult Probation Officer and the court referred the matter to the officer for investigation and report and continued the motion for new trial to August 1, 1949. (Tr. 071) The defendant was placed in custody of the Sheriff and held in the County Jail.

On July 5, 1949, the court made an order to the clerk to hold and retain from the \$5000.00 deposited as appearance bond on behalf of the defendant, the sum of \$1,000.00 against a fine on the grand larceny conviction, and \$208.00 for payment of the fine for contempt levied by the court during the trial, and ordered that the balance be paid over to the defendant.

Without intimation of change of attitude, and abruptly on the coming in of the court on August 1, 1949, His Honor overruled defendant's motion for new trial and proceeded to pronounce sentence. (The minute entry of the proceedings recites that the defendant had been convicted of the crime of “robbery, a felony”, which is, of course, an error.) (Tr. 080). The sentence imposed was of imprisonment for a term not less than one year, nor

more than ten years, and that the defendant pay a fine of \$1,000.00 to the State of Utah, the penalty for grand larceny, "said funds to be taken from the bond on deposit with the clerk of the court". Defendant was remanded to the Sheriff of Weber County to be forthwith taken and delivered to the Warden of the State Prison in execution of judgment. Notice of appeal was then and there served and filed. (Tr. 076). An order fixing and admitting to bail in the sum of \$10,000.00 was made, and notice of application for certificate of probable cause was presented to the court and granted. (Tr. 077-79).

The defendant furnished the bail and is at liberty pending the appeal.

This Is The Strange Case of the "Robbery of the Club".

George Pappas and Harry Pappas, commonly known as "Bum", are brothers, and have been engaged in business together on lower 25th Street in Ogden for "nigh onto forty years". They have prospered, through all the vicissitudes of the prohibition era, post-prohibition, and many changes of administration. 25th Street and a street in Bagdad have been named together by a famous author as the two most wicked streets in the world. Ogden's reputation in this respect is, like the announcement of Mark Twain's death, "slightly exaggerated".

The premises known as The Club, 126 - 25th Street, are on the north side. It is called a tavern under present terminology. Facilities for eating and sleeping are not provided for the patrons, however. Over the years the Pappas brothers have come to own the premises, as well as a hotel in the upper stories of the building, which they

call "The Roosevelt". The Union Depot, where the railway employee population are paid twice monthly, and many other industries of substantial payrolls, are near by. As a result a large number of employees with pay checks have formed the habit of dropping in at The Club to cash their checks. To meet this demand the Pappas Brothers have had to keep on hand large sums of currency, bills and silver.

There was usually a room in back, at one place or another, where gambling was carried on during the permitted periods, and silver in large quantities was a necessary facility. The money for cashing checks was kept in a little box and a slide drawer back of the cigar counter at the front end of The Club, and near the main entrance to the premises. There was usually a line-up on payday, and the cue was often longer than at a teller's window in the bank. It was convenient to pass from the cash counter around the screen to the bar extending forty to fifty feet along the same wall. No safe held the money over night.

THE PLOT

The plot of the story, as the prosecution would have us believe it, was outlined by the District Attorney in his opening statement. (Tr. 16-21) The State's proof followed the brief:

"Mr. Adams: If the Court please, and Mr. Woolley, and Gentlemen:

"The proof presented by the State will show that George and Harry Pappas have, for quite a number of years, operated a beer tavern on 25th

Street. That it has been their practice, on railroad paydays, the 10th and 25th days of the month, to have large sums of money on hand with which they cashed checks of railroad employees, particularly some of the icehouse who are paid by check on those days.

“That this practice has resulted in them having sums of money as high as \$30,000.00 and sometimes large sums of money in cash on hand. That it was the practice to secure this money the day before the 10th or 25th and to keep it on the premises so that it would be available on the 10th and 25th.

“That this practice was known to one Tony Salerno, who had some years before been employed by the Pappas brothers and who was well acquainted with this practice.

“That on the 24th of June of last year (1948) that George Pappas had large sums of money on hand and went to the First Security Bank and there got, as I remember, \$12,000 additional cash to have available to cash checks with the next day.

“That Tony Salerno in April or May of 1948 went to Bell, California on a trip. That he had been acquainted with Joe Petralia, the defendant, for sometime, 20 or 25 years.

“That Joe Petralia, the defendant in this case, is now a resident of Bell, California. That some ten years or so ago he had lived in Ogden, Utah, and had many acquaintances here in this city.

“That on this trip to Bell, California, Tony Salerno, who was unemployed, ran out of money and called Joe Petralia on the telephone, and Joe Petralia came to see him and gave him \$50.00. That at that time Tony Salerno and Joe Petralia discussed between themselves means of raising money by robbery or theft or otherwise. That Tony Salerno discussed with Petralia at that time the manner in which these sums of moneys were handled by the Pappas brothers.

“That the next morning in Bell, California, in April or May, Petralia took Tony Salerno to the train and told him that he would come to Ogden, Utah, shortly and that they would further discuss and develop their plans for this robbery.

“That Salerno came on to Las Vegas and phoned or wired for money; that Petralia sent him additional money; that Salerno came to Ogden, Utah. That he met and talked with Tony Salerno concerning their plans for this robbery. That one of the conversations at least took place in the Ogden city jail where Tony Salerno was at that time confined because of an arrest growing out of a fight with his girl friend. That Tony Salerno was released from jail on June 15, and within a few days after that time Salerno and Petralia went to the home of one Russel Gardner and there procured from Gardner a pistol which Salerno had previously left with Gardner as a pledge for a ten-dollar loan.

“That this gun was given to Petralia around June 17 and was kept by him and used in the rob-

bery that I will tell you about shortly. That about June 17 Petralia left Ogden and informed Salerno that he would return shortly before the 25th of June and bring with him two men to assist in this job. That he did go and returned on June 23, that he called Salerno where he lived in the Earl Hotel and they met and further discussed their plans.

“That Petralia directed or suggested to Salerno that he on the 24th of June hang around The Club tavern and ascertain for sure that the money was handled in the usual manner. That Salerno was around The Club on the 24th of June, and in fact stayed there until he left with Harry Pappas, one of the brothers in that premises, at one-thirty in the morning.

“That he, Salerno, did ascertain that that money was kept at its usual place in that establishment. Shortly after that time, or about two or 2:30 a.m. by prearrangement Salerno met with Petralia and the two of them went in Petralia's car to the Mountain View Auto Courts which is on west 24th across the viaduct. That there Petralia knocked on the window of a cabin there and two men came from the cabin dressed in coveralls.

“That these men were not known to Salerno at the time and were introduced only by their first names. That Tony Salerno had been acquainted with two of the men who worked in The Club at night. These men were George Steve and Taiji Anazawa, a Japanese man.

“That Salerno himself had worked for the Pap-

pas brothers off and on over a quite a period of years. That Salerno in company with one of the other men, not Petralia, went to the front door of The Club and Salerno, by reason of his former employment and friendship with these employees, knocked on the front door and pretended to need the toilet facilities.

“That he obtained entrance to The Club for himself and this man accompanying him, about three a.m. on the 25th of June. That Petralia was not among the men who accompanied them in on this visit. That Salerno pretending to use the toilet facilities which are in the back of this Club, made several visits into the facilities and flushed the toilet and pretended to use those facilities.

“That he in fact, by reason of his acquaintances with those premises went to the back door and there that door was locked by a thumb or turn lock which can be unlocked by merely turning a thumb lock. That he, Salerno, unlocked the back door and drank a beer at the front bar with this man and pointed out to him where this money was kept and then Salerno and his companion went out the front door. Went down the street to Wall Avenue, a short distance north and there joined Petralia and the other man.

“That Petralia sat in the car at a place where he could look up the alley which runs to the back of these premises. That these two men, not Petralia, put on their coveralls or had them on and went up the alley with Salerno. He showed them the back door to these premises, and there they

loaded the guns and put on their masks and went into the premises and with guns stuck up the Japanese man and George Steve, the other man employed in those premises at night.

“That they then bound them, put tape over their mouth, proceeded to take the money from the drawers and cabinets where it had been kept. That they then went out the back door and down the alley and got in the car where Petralia and Salerno were.

“They then drove out on Wall Avenue, I think to some place near 28th Street and Grant, that Salerno, pardon me, that Patralia told Salerno that they could not divide the money at this time because things were too hot and that it wouldn't do for Salerno, a person unemployed to have large sums of money on him.

“Salerno informed him he was broke and they gave to Salerno \$93.00. That there was taken in currency and silver from these drawers approximately \$27,300.00.

“That the men employed there soon freed themselves and gave an alarm and Tony Salerno who had left the car with the other three men then walked north on Grant Avenue and was arrested about in front of the Continental Baking Company. That he had on him at that time the \$93.00 received from the moneys taken in this robbery.

“This proof will show that Tony Salerno is also charged with robbery and that his case has not yet been tried. After being incarcerated for some

days Tony Salerno told the police officers the identity of Petralia, and George Pappas, who also knew Petralia, endeavored to reach Petralia by phone in Bell, California, and was unable to do so and I believe left a message there and finally Petralia called George Pappas here in Ogden and they had a conversation on the telephone and George Pappas left Ogden, Utah, and went to Bell, California about July 14 or 15.

“That there he met with Petralia and they discussed the robbery which had taken place here. That Petralia claimed that Pappas was claiming a larger loss than he, Pappas, in fact had, and in that discussion Petralia told some of the facts connected with that offense. One of the incidents concerned a pistol which was taken from one of the drawers and Petralia told Pappas that that pistol was thrown out of the car as they passed over the new Riverdale viaduct south of this city.

“That in that discussion Petralia with Pappas, Petralia agreed that he would pay back to Pappas \$10,000.00 and they parted and had an appointment to meet the next morning in front of the Lankersham Hotel in Los Angeles.

“That Petralia was somewhat late and came shortly before train time and handed to Pappas a package wrapped in paper. That they hurried to the train and Pappas put it in his suitcase. When he arrived here in Ogden he opened it before his brother, Harry, and there was in the package \$6,000.00 in greenbacks.

“That thereafter Petralia did not pay the other \$4,000,00 that he had promised in his conversation with Pappas.

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