1950

State of Utah v. Joe Petralia : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal by the defendant, Joe Petralia, from the verdict of the jury finding him guilty of the crime of Grand Larceny, and the sentence of the court thereon.

The brief of appellant contains a summary of the facts which were presented to the court and jury upon which the

defendant was convicted and duly sentenced. Although appellant's brief presents the facts in a manner to best serve the arguments of appellant in his Statement of Errors, it is felt that a recapitulation here would serve no useful purpose. Respondent will therefore refrain from making an independent presentation of the facts at this time but will do so where necessary in order to portray a version which may be at variance with that of the appellant.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. The court did not err in denying defendant's motion for a new trial.

II. The defendant was not prejudiced by the contempt proceedings.

III. The court did not unreasonably restrict the voir dire examination of the prospective jurors to the prejudice of the defendant.

IV. The court did not err in admitting in evidence the testimony of Wayne Smith and various State's exhibits.

V. The court did not commit prejudicial error in instructing the jury.

VI. The court did not err in refusing to give to the jury defendant's requested instruction No. 1.

VII. The court did not err in refusing to give to the jury defendant's requested instruction No. 5.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

This Honorable Court has on numerous occasions held that the granting or refusing of a motion for a new trial rests exclusively in the sound discretion of the trial court and that the exercise of that discretion will not be disturbed unless it appears that it has been abused to the prejudice of the defendant. *State v. Weaver*, 78 Utah 555, 6 P. (2d) 167; *State v. Mellor*, 73 Utah 104, 272 P. 635; *State v. Montgomery*, 37 Utah 515, 109 P. 815.

An examination of the record in this case will reveal that grounds 1, 2, 3, 4, and 10 set forth in appellant's Motion for New Trial were not supported by affidavits as required by the provisions of Section 105-39-4, Utah Code Annotated 1943, and therefore may not now be considered. It is respectfully submitted that the record does not reveal that the trial court abused its discretion to the prejudice of the defendant in denying appellant's motion for a new trial.

POINT II.

THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE CONTEMPT PROCEEDINGS.

Appellant contends that the court committed prejudicial error in imposing and levying a fine upon the defendant for

contempt of court (Br. 26). Without assuming one way or the other whether the court exceeded its jurisdiction in imposing a contempt fine of \$208.00 or whether His Honor acted capriciously and arbitrarily in finding the defendant in contempt of court and in requiring him to pay a fine of \$208.00 to purge himself, respondent respectfully submits that the record shows that the defendant was not prejudiced by this action. It will be noted that no jurors were present in the court room during the contempt proceedings (Br. 4), and appellant fails to point out where any rulings or orders during the course of the trial appear to have been influenced by any claimed bias or prejudice of His Honor as a result of the contempt proceedings.

POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT UNREASONABLY RESTRICT THE VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION OF THE PROSPECTIVE JURORS TO THE PREJUDICE OF THE DEFENDANT.

Appellant contends that the defendant was prejudiced by the manner in which he claims the court unduly and arbitrarily restricted the examination of the prospective jurors upon voir dire (Br. 29). The purpose of the voir dire examination is to secure for the defendant an impartial and disinterested jury, and he must therefore be given a reasonable opportunity to obtain such a jury. It is always essential, however, that the examination be conducted in good faith and, so that prejudice will not be engendered, it is within the exercise of the wise

discretion of the court to safeguard the course of the questioning. *Balle v. Smith*, 81 Utah 179, 17 P. (2d) 224. An examination of the transcript will reveal that defendant's counsel questioned fourteen of the sixteen prospective jurors called to the jury box at great length in selecting the jury which would try the case (Tr. 4-15). This was so even though the court did indicate that it might limit counsel's questions (Tr. 5). As a matter of fact, the only admonition given by the court in the course of counsel's examination was that his examination be limited to interrogating rather than lecturing the jury (Tr. 6), and, that the examination of Mr. Jensen was repetitious on the question of the guilt or innocence of the defendant (Tr. 7). In answer to counsel's prior questions, Mr. Jensen had already stated that he had formed no opinion concerning the guilt or innocence of the defendant (Tr. 6).

It may be interesting to note here that not only did the court not prevent or even suggest that the examination of the prospective jurors be discontinued but there was no attempt made by counsel for appellant to challenge any of the prospective jurors for cause. Furthermore, the record shows that Mr. Jensen, the prospective juror whom counsel for appellant cites as an example where the voir dire examination was claimed to have been unduly and arbitrarily restricted, was not one of the jurors who tried the case.

It is respectfully submitted that the record fails to support the contention that the voir dire examination of the jurors was unduly and arbitrarily restricted to the prejudice of the defendant.

POINT IV.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE THE TESTIMONY OF WAYNE SMITH AND VARIOUS STATE'S EXHIBITS.

It is contended that the court committed error in admitting in evidence State's Exhibits "B," "C," "E," "F," "G," "H," "I," "J," "K," and "M" and the testimony of Wayne Smith. the only objection to such exhibits and the disputed testimony both at the time of introduction and as argued in appellant's brief was that the same were "incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial."

With reference to the stock objection that the evidence or testimony is "incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial," it was said in *Hungate v. Hudson*, 353 Mo. 944, 185 SW (2d) 646, 157 A.L.R. 598, that:

" * * * as a rule, the general objections of irrelevancy and immateriality call for no more action on the part of the court than the assigned objections imply,—if more is expected or required of the court or there are other reasons the cross-examination is improper or the evidence is inadmissible specific objections must be made for those reasons."

In the course of its opinion the Missouri court went on further to hold, in substance, that the admission in evidence of facts entirely immaterial to the issues and without probative force is not reversible error, especially when the facts evidenced are of such a character that they do not have a natural tendency to inflame or arouse hostile passions and their prejudicial

effect is not otherwise made to appear.

Assuming, merely for purpose of argument, that part or all of the exhibits and the testimony referred to were "incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial," counsel for appellant does not claim that prejudicial error was committed by the court. In referring to the disputed exhibits and testimony, counsel's only argument concerning their inadmissibility is as follows: (Br. 35)

"None of this was ever brought home to Petralia, and all was mere 'dressing,' and attempts to prove in advance that which was not contradicted.

"Manifestly irrelevant and incompetent."

Dealing generally with the admission of improper evidence, it is said in 5 C. J. S. 1009, Sec. 1732:

"It is a well-settled general rule that it is harmless error for the court, in the conduct of the trial, to permit the introduction of irrelevant, incompetent, or other improper evidence relating to a fact which is admitted, conceded, uncontroverted, or which has been placed beyond the realm of dispute by uncontradicted evidence which has been adduced, or by agreement or stipulation of the parties; since, under the circumstances, the evidence could not mislead the jury."

The rule generally recognized by the authorities is that announced by the Supreme Court of the State of Oklahoma in *L. O. & H. L. Street v. Arnold*, 40 P. (2d) 1050, 170 Okla. 389, wherein it was said:

"One who complains that the trial court erred in admitting evidence, over his objections, must be able

to show wherein said evidence was detrimental to his cause."

In this case, aside from the fact that counsel for appellant complains that the disputed evidence and testimony was "incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial," there is no showing whatsoever that it was prejudicial or of such a character as to have a tendency to inflame or arouse the hostile passions of the jury. On the contrary, it is submitted that a careful reading of the transcript will show the competency, relevancy and materiality of the disputed evidence and, that in any event, no harmful error was committed in its admission.

POINT V

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY.

It is strenuously urged by counsel for appellant that the court committed prejudicial and reversible error in using the phrase "from the immediate presence" rather than "from the person" in instructing the jury concerning the crime of Grand Larceny in Instructions No. 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11. It is true, as appellant contends, that in instructing the jury the court did state that Grand Larceny is committed when the property is taken "from the immediate presence" rather than "from the person" of another, as set forth in subsection 2 of Section 103-36-4, Utah Code Annotated 1943. Courts have held, however, that the phrase "from the person" is substitutionary or tantamount in meaning to the phrase "from the immediate presence." *Mahoney v. State*, 180 NE 580; *Porello*

v. State, 121 Ohio St. 280, 168 NE 135; State v. Lamb, 242 Mo. 398, 146 SW 1169; People v. Kubish, 357 Ill. 531, 192 NE 543; State v. Craft, 299 Mo. 332, 253 SW 224; O'Donnell v. People, 224 Ill. 218, 79 NE 639; and Jackson v. State, 114 Ga. 826, 40 SE 1001.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah in State v. O'Day, 93 Utah 387, 73 P. (2d) 965, stated:

"We have read the transcript carefully, and, if any property was taken, it was taken *from the person or immediate presence* of complaining witness, so it could not be less than grand larceny or robbery."

Counsel for appellant admits that there was evidence that property was taken from the "immediate presence" of Steve and Anazawa (Br. 39). In view of the judicial construction which has been placed on the phrase "from the person," it cannot be argued successfully that prejudicial error was committed by the court in instructing the jury as it did concerning the crime of Grand Larceny.

It is urged also that the court committed prejudicial error in giving Instruction No. 9 in that it unduly commented upon the evidence and assumed as a fact that Steve and Anazawa were robbed. Counsel argues that "the instruction, as given, was calculated to carry the thought to the jury that the judge in the case thought the defendant guilty," and concludes that, "the form of this instruction ought not to be approved, although it may not be sufficient standing alone to justify a new trial (Br. 41). Whatever inferences may be drawn from the language in Instruction No. 9, that instruction must be

construed in harmony with and considered in the light of all the other instructions which were given. Any inferences, whether reasonable or unreasonable, which could be drawn from the language of that instruction to the effect that the judge thought a robbery had been committed or that the defendant was guilty, were certainly negatived by His Honor in instructing the jury in Instruction No. 27 as follows:

"The court does not express any opinion of any of the facts in the case, and it is immaterial what the views of the court thereon may be. Neither by these instructions nor by any words uttered or remarks made during the trial does the court intimate or mean or wish to be understood as giving an opinion as to what the proof is or what it is not, or what the facts are or what are not the facts in this case."

The instructions pointed out specifically that the burden was on the state to prove every material allegation in the information beyond a reasonable doubt; that the defendant was not required to prove his defense of alibi beyond a reasonable doubt but should be acquitted if the evidenced raised a reasonable doubt as to his presence at the time and place of the commission of the crime; that a conviction could not be had upon the uncorroborated testimony of accomplices; and, that the defendant was presumed to be innocent until proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. It is respectfully submitted that with these and the other precautionary instructions which were given and more particularly with the admonition of the court in Instruction No. 27 that, "Neither by these instructions nor by any words uttered or remarks made during the trial does the court intimate or mean or wish to be understood

as to what the proof is or what it is not, or what the facts are or what are not the facts," the court did not err in giving Instruction No. 9.

POINT VI.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE TO THE JURY DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1.

Defendant's requested Instruction No. 1 was as follows:

"You are instructed to return a verdict of 'not guilty' in favor of the defendant and to so say by your verdict."

In connection with this requested instruction, it is argued that the evidence in the case did not corroborate the testimony of he witness, Salerno, and that it was the duty of the court to determine as a matter of law whether or not there was sufficient evidence to corroborate his testimony. Section 105-32-18, Utah Code Annotated 1943, does prohibit a finding of guilty upon the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice. It reads:

"A conviction shall not be had on the testimony of an accomplice, unless he is corroborated by other evidence, which in itself and without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration shall not be sufficient, if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof."

The general rule with reference to whether or not there is a legal sufficiency of evidence to warrant its submission to the jury is set forth in 23 C. J. S. 651, Sec. 1139, as follows:

“Whether there is a legal sufficiency of evidence in support of the material issues of the case which will warrant its submission to the jury is a question of law for the court, in determining which it is only necessary that there should be so much proof as to make it proper to submit the evidence to the jury, and not that the court should be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence of motive alone is not sufficient to take the case to the jury. Where, however, there is any evidence, however slight, on which the jury may justifiably find the existence or the nonexistence of material facts in issue, and the evidence is conflicting, or of such a character that different conclusions as to such facts reasonably may be drawn therefrom, the issues should be submitted to the jury for determination, even though the court does not believe the evidence, or is of the opinion that it is not sufficient to convict, or is doubtful whether the evidence presented will be convincing to the jury. In such a case, it is error for the court to take the issue from the jury by dismissal or nonsuit, or by the direction of a verdict, or by excluding the evidence from the jury.”

In commenting upon the corroborative evidence in the record, counsel for appellant admits that there is some evidence but goes on to say, “when all is said and done, it is largely a matter of impression with the reviewing court, whether or not the case should have been taken from the jury.” Thus, by his own admission, it would have been error for the court to have withdrawn the case from the jury even though the evidence of corroboration may have been slight and even though the court may not have believed the evidence.

A perusal of the record shows that the evidence amply supports and corroborates the testimony of Tony Salerno. The testimony of George Pappas shows that on or about July

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